File ID RES 16-005 No. 15



# **Monterey County**

168 West Alisal Street, 1st Floor Salinas, CA 93901 831.755.5066

## Board Order

Upon motion of Supervisor Salinas, seconded by Supervisor Phillips and carried by those members present, the Board of Supervisors hereby:

Adopted Resolution 16-033 to:

- a. Find the activity is not subject to CEQA pursuant to Sections 15061(b)(3) and 15378 of the CEQA Guidelines;
- b. Approve the City of Marina as the recipient of \$10,000 through the Dover-Kohl Grant program; and
- c. Authorize the Director of the Economic Development Department to execute contracts and any related documents associated with providing the grant to the City of Marina.

(Referral - REF150107/Dover-Kohl Grant Award, City of Marina)

PASSED AND ADOPTED on this 23rd day of February 2016, by the following vote, to wit:

AYES: Supervisors Armenta, Phillips, Salinas and Parker NOES: None

**ABSENT:** Supervisor Potter

I, Gail T. Borkowski, Clerk of the Board of Supervisors of the County of Monterey, State of California, hereby certify that the foregoing is a true copy of an original order of said Board of Supervisors duly made and entered in the minutes thereof of Minute Book 78 for the meeting on February 23, 2016.

Dated: February 24, 2016 File ID: RES 16-005 Gail T. Borkowski, Clerk of the Board of Supervisors County of Monterey, State of California

By Denise Dencock Deputy

#### Before the Board of Supervisors in and for the County of Monterey, State of California

#### **Resolution No. 16-033**

Resolution of the Monterey County Board of ) Supervisors approving the City of Marina as ) the recipient of \$10,000 Dover-Kohl Grant.... )

WHEREAS, Dover, Kohl & Partners (hereinafter referred to as "Dover-Kohl"), a Florida based planning group that provides services focusing on visioning, plan analysis and urban design, has been contracted by the Fort Ord Reuse Authority to lead the process of completing new Regional Urban Design Guidelines (RUDG) for the former Fort Ord.

WHEREAS, through the effort of completing the RUDG, Dover-Kohl recognized an opportunity to work with the County of Monterey and offered to partner with interested Monterey County communities to help with design, traffic and land use planning to create vibrant and economically productive downtown areas.

WHEREAS, on December 16, 2014, the Board of Supervisors established a grant program (hereinafter referred to as the "Dover-Kohl Grant") utilizing Dover-Kohl to provide Monterey County cities with planning services that enhance and create economically vibrant downtown centers resulting in a benefit to County communities and the County as a whole.

WHEREAS, on August 25, 2015, the Board of Supervisors approved and authorized the Auditor-Controller to appropriate \$200,000 of General Fund Contingencies to the Economic Development Department (EDD) budget for implementation of their Strategic Plan. Funding for the Dover-Kohl Grant will be provided through EDD's FY2015-2016 budget.

WHEREAS, the Dover-Kohl Grant is a one-time-only grant awarded to a Monterey County city in the amount not to exceed \$10,000, based on a fifty percent County match to assist in funding planning services provided by Dover-Kohl.

WHEREAS, the Economic Development Department established the following as Dover-Kohl Grant selection criteria: 1) improving traffic circulation; 2) improving job opportunities; 3) improving neighborhood trail, bus and road connections; or 4) creating vibrancy for the community. Applicants shall incorporate one or more of the listed criteria in their proposal in order to be considered an appropriate grant recipient.

WHEREAS, the City of Marina recognizes a need for downtown revitalization and sees opportunity for furthering its goals for downtown vibrancy through the services provided by Dover-Kohl.

WHEREAS, on August 2015, the City of Marina initiated proceeding for filing an application to the Dover-Kohl Grant program with the Economic Development Department. The city proposes to utilize the grant funds in order to contract with Dover-Kohl to create an illustrative area plan designed for the revitalization of Marina's downtown area. A Scope of Work (**Exhibit 1**) has been prepared outlining services to be rendered by Dover, Kohl & Partners. A draft City of Marina Agreement for Consulting Services Related to Creation of a Defined Planning Area

File ID RES 16-005 No. 15

(Exhibit 2) has been reviewed and accepted by the City of Marina. Both documents have been submitted to the Economic Development Department as part of the application.

WHEREAS, the Economic Development Department finds the City of Marina is an appropriate recipient of the Dover-Kohl Grant funds, as the City's proposal for the creation of an illustrative revitalization plan addressing improving existing traffic circulation; improving neighborhood trail, bus and road connections; and creating a vibrant downtown area for the City of Marina

WHEREAS, on February 23, 2016, the Board of Supervisors considered staff's recommendation to find the City of Marina as an appropriate recipient of the Dover-Kohl Grant.

WHEREAS, funding for the Dover-Kohl Grant program is included in the 2015-2016 Fiscal Year Budget for the Economic Development Department.

WHEREAS, grant funds awarded to the City of Marina by the County of Monterey are limited to \$10,000. The draft agreement (**Exhibit 2**) between the City of Marina and Dover-Kohl states the city shall compensate the contractor in the amount of \$20,000 for services provided. The city shall be held liable for any additional compensation incurred.

WHEREAS, approving the City of Marina as the Dover-Kohl Grant recipient is not defined as a project under Sections 15061(b)(3) and 15378 of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines because funding of the grant does not involve any commitment to any specific project which may result in a potentially significant physical impact on the environment. Therefore award of the grant is not subject to environmental review.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Supervisors does hereby:

- a. Find that approval of the City of Marina as the Dover-Kohl grant recipient is not a project under CEQA; and
- b. Approve the City of Marina as the recipient of \$10,000 through the Dover-Kohl Grant program; and
- c. Authorize the Director of Economic Development Department to execute contracts and any related documents associated with providing the grant to the City of Marina.

**PASSED AND ADOPTED** upon motion of Supervisor Salinas, seconded by Supervisor Phillips carried this 23rd day of February 2016, by the following vote, to wit:

AYES:Supervisors Armenta, Phillips, Salinas and ParkerNOES:NoneABSENT:Supervisor Potter

I, Gail T. Borkowski, Clerk of the Board of Supervisors of the County of Monterey, State of California, hereby certify that the foregoing is a true copy of an original order of said Board of Supervisors duly made and entered in the minutes thereof of Minute Book 78 for the meeting on February 23, 2016.

Dated: February 24, 2016 File Number: RES 16-005 Gail T. Borkowski, Clerk of the Board of Supervisors County of Monterey, State of California

By Denvie Cancock

## EXHIBIT 1

## DOVER, KOHL AND PARTNERS SCOPE OF WORK FOR THE CITY OF MARINA

#### SCOPE OF SERVICES

.

The following scope of services outlines Dover, Kohl and Partners' approach for creating a small area plan for a defined planning area in the City of Marina consisting of a three (3) day in-house workshop with selected staff and elected/appointed officials, stakeholder meetings a Work-in Progress Presentation, and an Executive Summary of the workshop results.

The goal is to provide design consultation, drawings, exhibits, and participation in meetings with stakeholders, other consultants, and public entities as necessary to develop a small area plan that will guide the successful development and redevelopment of the planning area. The suggested area is Del Monte Blvd between Highway 1 and Reservation Road; Reservation Road from Beach Road to De Forest Road; Reindollar Avenue between Del Monte Blvd and Sunset Avenue. Additionally, will look at connecting this planning area to the existing Dunes Development area. The design team shall consist of Dover, Kohl & Partners ("DKP"), town planning and Dena Belzer of Strategic Economics, economic & market analysis.

#### Tasks

#### Phase 1: Pre-Workshop

1.01 Project Kick-off Conference Call

At the start of the project, the Senior Project Director from DKP will schedule a

conference call with Client staff to review base information needs, design the workshop format, identify stakeholders, and finalize the schedule for the project.

1.02 Review of Relevant Information

DKP will assemble and review relevant information, provided by the client, in order to familiarize themselves with the characteristics of the planning area. A study of existing land development regulations, development ordinances, previous studies and plans, current and historical maps, and demographic information will prepare the team for the project ahead.

1.03 Generate Base Map

The team will work closely with Client staff to acquire the necessary information to produce a base maps for the workshop. The appropriate data will include color aerial photographs at a suitable scale as well as ArcGIS base data for the planning area.

1.04 Design the Workshop Format

DKP will work with the Client to structure the format of the workshop. Emphasis will be placed on the development and revitalization of the planning area. The format will incorporate the findings of the Client input, previous planning efforts, previous community meetings, community events, and interviews.

#### Phase 2: The Workshop

On a mutually agreeable date, DKP will travel to Monterey County for a three (3) day workshop. DKP will provide a staff of three Planners, which will include a Senior Project Director, an Illustrator, and an Urban Designer, as well as Dena Belzer, Principal of Strategic Economics to facilitate the workshop. The workshop will feature the following events:

2.01 On-site Design Studio

Working on-site or at a nearby temporary design studio secured by the Client, the team will concentrate on the design of the study area. Members of the Client staff, elected officials, and invited stakeholders will be encouraged to stop in to provide input and check on the project's status.

2.02 Technical Meetings and Stakeholder Interviews

While working on-site, the team will schedule various technical meetings and

stakeholder interviews with Client staff and other key stakeholders as appropriate for the project. These meetings will assist in the team's continued understanding of the physical, market, and organizational forces that are shaping or missing from the planning area. The Client shall be responsible for scheduling the meetings and informing key stakeholders.

2.03 Illustrative Plan and Visualizations

DKP will create an Illustrative Plan for the planning area that illustrates the desired potential build-out of the planning area. The Illustrative Plan will include building placement, parking locations, street and block network, and civic amenities to illustrate a potential future build out of the area.
Visualizations of what the area may look like will be created to provide a greater feel for what the area may grow to be in the future. Renderings will include "before and after" illustrations that show possible scenarios for development in the planning area.

2.04 "Work in Progress" Presentation

At the end of the workshop, the team will present the work generated in the design studio at a "Work in Progress" Presentation to staff and officials. Sketches and visualizations will be presented illustrating the hypothetical build-out for the planning area. These initial plans will serve as examples of how the area can change and grow.

#### SCHEDULE

The three day Workshop shall be scheduled in a timely manner on a mutually agreeable date. Tentative dates may be February 11-13, 2016, subject to change. Work products completed after the Workshop require 4 to 6 weeks for completion.

#### **PROFESSIONAL FEES & REIMBURSABLE EXPENCES**

A. Professional Fees. The Client shall compensate DKP for professional services rendered in the performance of this Scope of Services or in the service of the Client.

1. Flat Fee. The Client shall make payment to DKP of professional fees in the amount of \$20,000 for the completion of the work in the Scope of Services.

2. Additional work beyond this scope of services will be authorized in writing and payment will be based on the following hourly rates, based on DKP's 2015 hourly rates:

Dover, Kohl & Partners

Founding Principal, Victor Dover \$375.00

Founding Principal, Joseph Kohl \$300.00

Senior Project Director \$185.00

Director of Design \$185.00

Project Manager \$150.00

Staff Town Planners & Urban Designers \$90.00

Clerical Staff \$45.00

Strategic Economics

Senior Principal (Dena Belzer) \$250.00

B. Payments. The payment of this sum to DKP shall be apportioned as follows: Thirty (30%) shall be paid upon the conclusion of Phase 1.
 Fifty (50%) percent shall be paid upon the conclusion of the Workshop; and the remaining balance shall be apportioned into monthly payments corresponding to the percentage of work completed.

DKP shall submit monthly invoices to the Client for professional services rendered and reimbursable expenses incurred to date. Such invoices shall be paid in full promptly upon receipt.

### EXHIBIT 2

#### -DRAFT-

#### CITY OF MARINA AGREEMENT FOR CONSULTANT SERVICES RELATED TO CREATION OF A DEFINED PLANNING AREA

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into on\_\_\_\_\_\_, 2016, by the City of Marina, a California charter city, hereinafter referred to as the "City," and The Image Network, Inc., a Delaware corporation registered to do business in California as Dover, Kohl & Partners hereinafter referred to as the "Contractor." City and Contractor are sometimes individually referred to as "party" and collectively as "parties" in this Agreement.

#### <u>Recitals</u>

- A. City desires to retain Contractor to conduct a three-day workshop, stakeholders meeting, a work-in-progress presentation, and to prepare an executive summary related to the creation of a small area plan for a defined planning area within the City, hereinafter referred to as the "Project."
- B. Contractor represents and warrants that it has the qualifications, experience and personnel necessary to properly perform the services as set forth herein.
- C. City desires to retain Contractor to provide such services.

#### **Terms and Conditions**

For of good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged and in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein, City and Contractor agree to the following terms and conditions:

#### 1. <u>Scope of Work</u>.

(a) Contractor is hereby hired and retained by the City to work in a cooperative manner with the City to fully and adequately perform those services set forth in Exhibit "A" attached hereto ("Scope of Work") and by this reference made a part hereof. With prior written notice to Contractor, City may elect to delete certain tasks of the Scope of Work at its sole discretion.

(b) Contractor shall perform all such work with skill and diligence and pursuant to generally accepted standards of practice in effect at the time of performance. Contractor shall provide corrective services without charge to the City for work which fails to meet these standards and which is reported to Contractor in writing within sixty days of discovery. Should Contractor fail or refuse to perform promptly its obligations under this Agreement, the City may render or undertake the performance thereof and the Contractor shall be liable for any expenses thereby incurred.

(c) If services under this Agreement are to be performed by a design professional, as that term is defined in California Civil Code §2782.8(b)(2), design professional certifies that all design professional services shall be provided by a person or persons duly licensed by the State of California to provide the type of services described in Section 1(a). By delivery of completed work, design professional certifies that the work conforms to the requirements of this Agreement and all applicable federal, state and local laws, and the professional standard of care in California.

(d) Contractor is responsible for making an independent evaluation and judgment of all relevant conditions affecting performance of the work, including without limitation site conditions, existing facilities, economic, geographic, climatic conditions, applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations and all other contingencies or considerations.

(e) City shall cooperate with Contractor and will furnish all information data, records and reports existing and available to City to enable Contractor to carry out work outlined in Exhibit "A." Contractor shall be entitled to reasonably rely on information, data, records and reports furnished by the City, however, the City makes no warranty as to the accuracy or completeness of any such information, data, records or reports available to it and provided to Contractor which were furnished to the City by a third party. Contractor shall have a duty to bring to the City's attention any deficiency or error it may discover in any information provided to the Contractor by the City or a third party.

#### 2. <u>Term of Agreement & Commencement of Work</u>.

(a) Unless otherwise provided, the term of this Agreement shall begin on the date of its full execution and shall expire on June 30, 2016, unless extended by amendment or terminated earlier as provided herein. The date of full execution is defined as the date when all of the following events have occurred:

(i) This Agreement has been approved by the City's Council or by the board, officer or employee authorized to give such approval; and

(ii) The office of the City Attorney has indicated in writing its approval of this Agreement as to form; and

(iii) This Agreement has been signed on behalf of Contractor by the person or persons authorized to bind the Contractor hereto; and.

(iv) This Agreement has been signed on behalf of the City by the person designated to so sign by the City's Council or by the officer or employee authorized to enter into this Contract and is attested to by the Marina City Clerk.

(b) Contractor shall commence work on the Project upon execution of this Agreement. This Agreement may be extended upon written agreement of both parties. Contractor may be required to prepare a written schedule for the work to be performed, which schedule shall be approved by the City and made a part of Exhibit A, and to perform the work in accordance with the approved schedule.

#### 3. <u>Compensation</u>.

(a) City liability for compensation to Contractor under this Agreement shall only be to the extent of the present appropriation to fund this Agreement. For services to be provided under this Agreement City shall compensate Contractor in the amount of Twenty Thousand Dollars (\$20,000.00) in accordance with the provisions of this Section and the Professional Fees & Reimbursable Expenses Schedule attached hereto as Exhibit B and incorporated herein by this reference.

(b) Invoice(s) in a format and on a schedule acceptable to the City shall be submitted to and be reviewed and verified by the Project Administrator (see Section 5(a)) and forwarded to the City's Finance Department for payment. City shall notify Contractor of exceptions or disputed items and their dollar value within fifteen days of receipt. Payment of the undisputed amount of the invoice will typically be made approximately thirty days after the invoice is submitted to the Finance Department.

(c) Contractor will maintain clearly identifiable, complete and accurate records with respect to all costs incurred under this Agreement on an industry recognized accounting basis. Contractor shall make available to the representative of City all such books and records related to this Agreement, and the right to examine, copy and audit the same during regular business hours upon 24-hour's notice for a period of four years from the date of final payment under this Agreement.

(d) Contractor shall not receive any compensation for Extra Work without the prior written authorization of City. As used herein, "Extra Work" means any work that is determined by the City to be necessary for the proper completion of the Project but which is not included within the Scope of Work and which the parties did not reasonably anticipate would be necessary at the execution of this Agreement. Compensation for any authorized Extra Work shall be paid in accordance with Exhibit B.

(e) Expenses not otherwise addressed in the Scope of Services or the Fee Schedule incurred by Contractor in performing services under this Agreement shall be reviewed and approved in advance by the Project Administrator (Section 5(a)), be charged at cost and reimbursed to Contractor.

(f) There shall be no charge for transportation within Monterey, Santa Cruz and San Benito Counties required for the performance of the services under this Agreement; travel to other locations must be approved in writing and in advance by the City, mileage will be charged at the then current standard rate for business travel as set by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service for such approved travel.

#### 4. <u>Termination or Suspension</u>.

.

(a) This Agreement may be terminated in whole or in part in writing by either party in the event of a substantial failure by the other party to fulfill its obligations under this Agreement through no fault of the terminating party, provided that no termination may be effected unless the other party is given (1) not less than ten days written notice of intent to terminate, and (2) provided an opportunity for consultation with the terminating party prior to termination.

(b) If termination for default is effected by the City, an equitable adjustment in the price provided for in this Agreement shall be made, but (1) no amount shall be allowed for anticipated profit on unperformed services or other work, and (2) any payment due

the Contractor at the time of termination may be adjusted to cover any additional costs to the City because of the Contractor's default. If after the termination for failure of Contractor to fulfill its contractual obligations, it is determined that the Contractor had not failed to fulfill contractual obligations, the termination shall be deemed to have been for the convenience of the City.

(c) The City may terminate or suspend this Agreement at any time for its convenience upon not less than thirty days prior written notice to Contractor. Not later than the effective date of such termination or suspension, Contractor shall discontinue all affected work and deliver all work product and other documents, whether completed or in progress, to the City.

(d) If termination for default is effected by the Contractor or if termination for convenience is effected by the City, the equitable adjustment shall include a reasonable profit for services or other work performed. The equitable adjustment for termination shall provide for payment to the Contractor for services rendered and expenses incurred prior to the termination, in addition to termination settlement costs reasonably incurred by Contractor relating to written commitments that were executed prior to the termination.

#### 5. <u>Project Administrator, Project Manager & Key Personnel.</u>

(a) City designates as its Project Administrator Ms. Theresa Szymanis, Acting Director, Community Development Department, who shall have the authority to act for the City under this Agreement. The Project Administrator or his/her authorized representative shall represent the City in all matters pertaining to the work to be performed pursuant to this Agreement.

(b) Contractor designates its Founding Principals Mr. Victor Dover and Mr. Joseph Kohl as its Project Managers who shall coordinate all phases of the Project. The Project managers shall be available to City at all reasonable times during the Agreement term.

(c) Contractor warrants that it will continuously furnish the necessary personnel to complete the Project on a timely basis as contemplated by this Agreement. Contractor, at the sole discretion of City, shall remove from the Project any of its personnel assigned to the performance of services upon written request of City. Contractor has represented to City that certain key personnel will perform and coordinate the work under this Agreement. Should one or more of such personnel become unavailable, Contractor may substitute other personnel of at least equal competence upon written approval of the City. In the event that City and Contractor cannot agree as to the substitution of key personnel, City shall be entitled to terminate this Agreement for cause. The key personnel for performance of this Agreement are as follows: Ms. Dena Belzer, Senior Principal, Strategic Economics, Inc.

#### 6. <u>Delegation of Work</u>.

(a) If Contractor utilizes any subcontractors, consultants, persons, employees or firms having applicable expertise to assist Contractor in performing the services under this Agreement, Contractor shall obtain City's prior written approval to such employment. Execution of this Agreement shall act as written confirmation of the use of Strategic

Economics, Inc. as a subcontractor. Contractor's contract with any subcontractor shall contain a provision making the subcontract subject to all provisions of this Agreement. Contractor will be fully responsible and liable for the administration, completion, presentation, and quality of all work performed. City reserves its right to employ other contractors in connection with this Project.

(b) If the work hereunder is performed by a design professional, design professional shall be directly involved with performing the work or shall work through his, her or its employees. The design professional's responsibilities under this Agreement shall not be delegated. The design professional shall be responsible to the City for acts, errors or omissions of his, her or its subcontractors. Negligence of subcontractors or agents retained by the design professional is conclusively deemed to be the negligence of the design professional if not adequately corrected by the design professional. Use of the term subcontractor in any other provision of this Agreement shall not be construed to imply authorization for a design professional to use subcontractors for performance of any professional service under this Agreement.

(c) The City is an intended beneficiary of any work performed by a subcontractor for purposes of establishing a duty of care between the subcontractor and the City.

7. <u>Skill of Employees</u>. Contractor shall ensure that any employees or agents providing services under this Agreement possess the requisite skill, training and experience to properly perform such services.

8. <u>Confidential and Proprietary Information</u>. In the course of performing services under this Agreement Contractor may obtain, receive, and review confidential or proprietary documents, information or materials that are and shall remain the exclusive property of the City. Should Contractor undertake the work on behalf of other agencies, entities, firms or persons relating to the matters described in the Scope of Work, it is expressly agreed by Contractor that any such confidential or proprietary information or materials shall not be provided or disclosed in any manner to any of Contractor's other clients, or to any other third party, without the City's prior express written consent.

9. **Ownership of Data**. Unless otherwise provided for herein, all documents. material, data, drawings, plans, specifications, computer data files, basis for design calculations, engineering notes, and reports originated and prepared by Contractor, or any subcontractor of any tier, under this Agreement shall be and remain the property of the City for its use in any manner it deems appropriate. Contractor agrees that all copyrights which arise from creation of the work pursuant to this Agreement shall be vested in the City and waives and relinquishes all claims to copyright or intellectual property rights in favor of the City. Contractor shall provide two (2) sets of reproducible of the above-cited items, except for the computer data files which shall consist of one (1) set. Contractor shall use all reasonable efforts to ensure that any electronic files provided to the City will be compatible with the City's computer hardware and software. Contractor makes no representation as to long-term compatibility, usability or readability of the format resulting from the use of software application packages, operating systems or computer hardware differing from those in use by the City at the commencement of this Agreement. Contractor shall be permitted to maintain copies of all such data for its files. City acknowledges that its use of the work product is limited to the purposes contemplated by the Scope of Work and, should City use these products or data in connection with additions to the work required under this Agreement or for new work

> 12 ATTACHMENT A PAGE 12 OF 25

without consultation with and without additional compensation to Contractor, Contractor makes no representation as to the suitability of the work product for use in or application to circumstances not contemplated by the Scope of Work and shall have no liability or responsibility whatsoever in connection with such use which shall be at the City's sole risk. Any and all liability arising out of changes made by the City to Contractor's deliverables is waived against Contractor unless City has given Contractor prior written notice of the changes and has received Contractor's written consent to such changes.

#### 10. Conflict of Interest.

(a) Contractor covenants that neither it, nor any officer or principal of its firm has or shall acquire any interest, directly or indirectly, which would conflict in any manner with the interests of the City or which would in any way hinder Contractor's performance of services under this Agreement. Contractor further covenants that in the performance of this Agreement, no person having any such interest shall be employed by it as an officer, employee, agent or subcontractor without the express written consent of the City Manager. Contractor agrees to at all times avoid conflicts of interest or the appearance of any conflicts of interest with the interests of the City in the performance of this Agreement. Contractor shall represent the interest of the City in any discussion or negotiation with property owners, tenants, prospective tenants, developers, project "stakeholders," real estate professionals, state or county officials, and as such, may not accept compensation, commission or payment of any type from any such party or such party's agent.

(b) City understands and acknowledges that Contractor may be, as of the date of commencement of services under this Agreement, independently involved in the performance of non-related services for other governmental agencies and private parties. Contractor is unaware of any stated position of the City relative to such projects. Any future position of the City on such projects may result in a conflict of interest for purposes of this section.

(c) No official or employee of the City who is authorized in such capacity on behalf of the City to negotiate, make, accept, or approve, or take part in negotiating, making accepting or approving this contract, shall become directly or indirectly interested in this contract or in any part thereof. No officer or employee of the City who is authorized in such capacity and on behalf of the City to exercise any executive, supervisory, or similar function in connection with the performance of this contract shall become directly or indirectly interested personally in this contract or any part thereof.

**11.** <u>**Disclosure</u>**. Contractor may be subject to the appropriate disclosure requirements of the California Fair Political Practices Act, as determined by the City Manager.</u>

#### 12. Non-Discrimination.

(a) During the performance of this Agreement the Contractor shall comply with the applicable nondiscrimination and affirmative action provisions of the laws of the United States of America, the State of California and the City. In performing this Agreement, Contractor shall not discriminate, harass, or allow harassment, against any employee or applicant for employment because of sex, race, color, ancestry, religious creed, national origin, physical disability (including HIV and AIDS), medical condition (including cancer), age, marital status, denial of family and medical care leave and denial of pregnancy disability leave. Contractor shall give written notice of its obligations under this clause to labor organizations with which it has a collective bargaining or other agreement.

(b) Contractor shall include the nondiscrimination and compliance provisions of this Section in all subcontracts.

#### 13. Indemnification.

(a) Other than in the performance of professional services by a design professional, which shall be solely as addressed by subsection (b) below, and to the full extent permitted by law, Contractor shall (1) immediately defend (with independent counsel reasonably acceptable to the City) and (2) indemnify the City, its Council, boards, commissions, employees, officials and agents ("Indemnified Parties" or in the singular "Indemnified Party") from and against all liabilities regardless of nature or type arising out of or resulting from Contractor's performance of services under this contract, or any negligent or wrongful act or omission of the Contractor or Contractor's officers, employees, agents or subcontractors. Liabilities subject to the duties to defend and indemnify include, without limitation, all claims, losses, damages, penalties, fines and judgments, associated investigation and administrative expenses; defense costs including but not limited to reasonable attorney's fees; court costs; expert witness fees; and costs of alternate dispute resolution ("Liabilities"). The Contractor's obligation to indemnify applies unless it is adjudicated that its liability was caused by the sole active negligence or sole willful misconduct of an indemnified party. If it is finally adjudicated that liability is caused by the comparative active negligence or willful misconduct of an Indemnified Party, the Contractor's indemnification obligation shall be reduced in proportion to the established comparative liability of the Indemnified Party.

(b) To the fullest extent permitted by law (including without limitation California Civil Code Sections 2782.8), when the services to be provided under this Agreement by Contractor are design professional services to be performed by a design professional, as that term is defined under said section 2782.8, the design professional shall (1) immediately defend (with independent counsel reasonably acceptable to the City) and (2) indemnify the City and any Indemnified Party for all Liabilities regardless of nature or type that arise out of, pertain to, or relate to the negligence, recklessness, or willful misconduct of design professional, or the acts or omissions of an officer, employee, agent or subcontractor of the design professional. The design professional's obligation to indemnify applies unless it is finally adjudicated that the liability was caused by the sole active negligence or sole willful misconduct of an Indemnified Party. If it is finally adjudicated that liability is caused by the comparative active negligence or willful misconduct of an Indemnified Party, then design professional's indemnification obligation shall be reduced in proportion to the established comparative liability of the Indemnified Party.

(c) All obligations under this section are to be paid by Contractor as incurred by City. The provisions of this Section are not limited by the provisions of sections relating to insurance including provisions of any worker's compensation act or similar act. Contractor expressly waives its statutory immunity under such statues or laws as to City, its employees and officials. An allegation or determination of comparative active negligence or willful misconduct by an Indemnified Party does not relieve the Contractor from its separate and distinct obligation to defend the City. Contractor agrees to obtain executed indemnity agreements with provisions identical to those set forth here in this section from each and every subcontractor, sub tier contractor or any other person or entity involved by, for, with or on behalf of Contractor in the performance or subject matter of this Agreement. In the event Contractor fails to obtain such indemnity obligations from others as required here, Contractor agrees to be fully responsible according to the terms of this section. Failure of City to monitor compliance with these requirements imposes no additional obligations on City and will in no way act as a waiver of any rights hereunder.

(d) If any action or proceeding is brought against any Indemnified Party by reason of any of the matters against which the Contractor has agreed to defend the Indemnified Party, as provided above, Contractor, upon notice from the City, shall immediately defend any Indemnified Party at Contractor's expense by counsel reasonably acceptable to the City. An Indemnified Party need not have first paid for any of the matters to which it is entitled to indemnification in order to be so defended.

(e) The review, acceptance or approval of the Contractor's work or work product by any Indemnified Party shall not affect, relieve or reduce the Contractor's indemnification or defense obligations. This obligation to indemnify and defend City, as set forth herein, is binding on the successors, assigns, or heirs of Contractor and shall survive the completion of the services or the termination of this Agreement or this Section.

#### 14. Insurance.

(a) As a condition precedent to the effectiveness of this Agreement and without limiting Contractor's indemnification of the City, Contractor agrees to obtain and maintain in full force and effect at its own expense the insurance policies set forth in Exhibit "C" "Insurance" attached hereto and made a part hereof. Contractor shall furnish the City with original certificates of insurance, manually autographed in ink by a person authorized by that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf, along with copies of all required endorsements. All certificates and endorsements must be received and approved by the City before any work commences. All insurance policies shall be subject to approval by the City Attorney and Risk Manager as to form and content. Specifically, such insurance shall: (1) protect City as an additional insured for commercial general and business auto liability; (2) provide City at least thirty days written notice of cancellation, material reduction in coverage or reduction in limits and ten days written notice for non-payment of premium; and (3) be primary with respect to City's insurance program. Contractor's insurance is not expected to respond to claims that may arise from the acts or omissions of the City.

(b) City reserves the right at any time during the term of this Agreement to change the amounts and types of insurance required herein by giving Contractor ninety days advance written notice of such change. If such change should result in substantial additional cost of the Contractor, City agrees to negotiate additional compensation proportional to the increased benefit to City.

(c) All required insurance must be submitted and approved the City Attorney and Risk Manager prior to the inception of any operations by Contractor.

(d) The required coverage and limits are subject to availability on the open market at reasonable cost as determined by the City. Non availability or non affordability must be documented by a letter from Contractor's insurance broker or agency indicating a good faith effort to place the required insurance and showing as a minimum the names of the insurance carriers and the declinations or quotations received from each. Within the foregoing constraints, Contractor's failure to procure or maintain required insurance during the entire term of this Agreement shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement under which City may immediately suspend or terminate this Agreement or, at its discretion, procure or renew such insurance to protect City's interests and pay any and all premium in connection therewith and recover all monies so paid from Contractor.

(e) By signing this Agreement, Contractor hereby certifies that it is aware of the provisions of Section 3700 *et seq.*, of the Labor Code which require every employer to be insured against liability for Workers' Compensation or to undertake self-insurance in accordance with the provision of that Code, and that it will comply with such provisions at all such times as they may apply during the performance of the work pursuant to this Contract. Unless otherwise agreed, a waiver of subrogation in favor of the City is required.

**15.** <u>Independent Contractor</u>. The parties agree that Contractor, its officers, employees and agents, if any, shall be independent contractors with regard to the providing of services under this Agreement, and that Contractor's employees or agents shall not be considered to be employees or agents of the City for any purpose and will not be entitled to any of the benefits City provides for its employees. City shall make no deductions for payroll taxes or Social Security from amounts due Contractor for work or services provided under this Agreement.

**16.** <u>**Claims for Labor and Materials**</u>. Contractor shall promptly pay when due all amounts payable for labor and materials furnished in the performance of this Agreement, so as to prevent any lien or other claim under any provision of law from arising against any City property (including reports, documents, and other tangible matter produced by the Contractor hereunder), against the Contractor's rights to payments hereunder, or against the City, and shall pay all amounts due under the Unemployment Insurance Act with respect to such labor.

**17.** <u>**Discounts**</u>. Contractor agrees to offer the City any discount terms that are offered to its best customers for the goods and services to be provided herein, and apply such discounts to payment made under this Agreement which meet the discount terms.

**18.** <u>Cooperation; Further Acts.</u> The Parties shall fully cooperate with one another, and shall take any additional acts or sign any additional documents as may be necessary, appropriate or convenient to attain the purposes of this Agreement.

**19.** <u>**Dispute Resolution**</u>. If any dispute arises between the parties as to proper interpretation or application of this Agreement, the parties shall first meet and confer in a good faith attempt to resolve the matter between themselves. If the dispute is not resolved by meeting and conferring, the matter shall be submitted for formal mediation to a mediator selected mutually by the parties. The expenses of such mediation shall be shared equally between the parties. If the dispute is not or cannot be resolved by mediation, the parties may mutually agree (but only as to those issues of the matter not resolved by mediation) to submit their dispute to arbitration. Before commencement of

the arbitration, the parties may elect to have the arbitration proceed on an informal basis; however, if the parties are unable so to agree, then the arbitration shall be conducted in accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association. The decision of the arbitrator shall be binding, unless within thirty days after issuance of the arbitrator's written decision, any party files an action in court. Venue and jurisdiction for any such action between the parties shall lie in the Superior Court for the County of Monterey.

#### 20. Compliance with Laws.

.

(a) Each party's performance hereunder shall comply with all applicable laws of the United States of America, the State of California and the City including but not limited to laws regarding health and safety, labor and employment, wage and hours and licensing laws which affect employees. This Agreement shall be governed by, enforced and interpreted under the laws of the State of California. Contractor shall comply with new, amended or revised laws, regulations or procedures that apply to the performance of this Agreement.

(b) If the Project is a "public work," or prevailing wages are otherwise required, Contractor shall comply with all provision of California Labor Code section 1720 *et seq.*, as applicable, and laws dealing with prevailing wages, apprentices and hours of work.

(c) Contractor represents that it has obtained and presently holds all permits and licenses necessary for performance hereunder, including a Business License required by the City's Business License Ordinance. For the term covered by this Agreement, the Contractor shall maintain or obtain as necessary, such permits and licenses and shall not allow them to lapse, be revoked or suspended.

**21.** <u>Assignment or Transfer</u>. This Agreement or any interest herein may not be assigned, hypothecated or transferred, either directly or by operation of law, without the prior written consent of the City. Any attempt to do so shall be null and void, and any assignees, hypothecates or transferees shall acquire no right or interest by reason of such attempted assignment, hypothecation or transfer.

**22.** <u>Notices</u>. All notices required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be sent by certified mail, postage prepaid with return receipt requested, or by courier service addressed as follows:

To City:	City Manager City of Marina City Hall 211 Hillcrest Avenue Marina, California 93933 Telephone: (831) 884-1274
To Contractor:	Dover, Kohl & Partners 1571 Sunset Drive Coral Gables, FL 33143 Telephone (305) 666-0446

17 ATTACHMENT A PAGE 17 OF 25 Notice shall be deemed effective on the date, if mailed, three days after deposit in the custody of the U.S. Postal Service and if sent by overnight courier service on the next business day. A copy of any notice sent as provided herein shall also be delivered to the Project Administrator and Project Manager.

f •

**23.** <u>Amendments, Changes or Modifications</u>. This Agreement is not subject to amendment, change or modification except by a writing signed by the authorized representatives of City and Contractor.

24. <u>Force Majeure</u>. Notwithstanding any other provisions hereof, neither Contractor nor City shall be held responsible or liable for failure to meet their respective obligations under this Agreement if such failure shall be due to causes beyond Contractor's or the City's control. Such causes include but are not limited to: strike, fire, flood, civil disorder, act of God or of the public enemy, act of the federal government, or any unit of state of local government in either sovereign or contractual capacity, epidemic, quarantine restriction, or delay in transportation to the extent that they are not caused by the party's willful or negligent acts or omissions, and to the extent that they are beyond the party's reasonable control.

**25.** <u>Attorney's Fees</u>. In the event of any controversy, claim or dispute relating to this Agreement, or the breach thereof, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the losing party reasonable expenses, attorney's fees and costs.

**26.** <u>Successors and Assigns.</u> All of the terms, conditions and provisions of this Agreement shall apply to and bind the respective heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the parties. Nothing in this paragraph is intended to affect the limitation on assignment

**27.** <u>Authority to Enter Agreement</u>. Contractor has all requisite power and authority to conduct its business and to execute, deliver and perform the Agreement. Each party warrants that the individuals who have signed this Agreement have the legal power, right and authority to make this Agreement and bind each respective party.

**28.** <u>Waiver</u>. A waiver of a default of any term of this Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver of any succeeding default or as a waiver of the provision itself. A party's performance after the other party's default shall not be construed as a waiver of that default.

**29.** <u>Severability</u>. Should any portion of this Agreement be determined to be void or unenforceable, such shall be severed from the whole and the Agreement will continue as modified.

**30.** <u>Construction, References, Captions.</u> Since the parties or their agents have participated fully in the preparation of this Agreement, the language of this Agreement shall be construed simply, according to its fair meaning, and not strictly for or against any party. Any term referencing time, days or period for performance shall be deemed calendar days and not work days. The captions of the various sections are for convenience and ease of reference only, and do not define, limit, augment or describe the scope, content or intent of this Agreement.

31. Advice of Counsel. The parties agree that they are aware that they have the right to be advised by counsel with respect to the negotiations, terms and conditions of this Agreement, and that the decision of whether or not to seek the advice of counsel with respect to this Agreement is a decision which is the sole responsibility of each of the parties hereto. This Agreement shall not be construed in favor or against either party by reason of the extent to which each party participated in the drafting of this Agreement.

32. Counterparts. This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original.

33. Time. Time is of the essence in this contract.

34. **Entire Agreement.** This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the matters as set forth in this Agreement, and no other agreement, statement or promise made by or to any party or by or to any employee, officer or agent of any party, which is not contained in this Agreement shall be binding or valid.

**IN WITNESS WHEREOF**, Contractor and the City by their duly authorized representatives, have executed this Agreement, on the date first set forth above, at Marina, California.

#### CITY OF MARINA

1 4

#### CONTRACTOR

Ву:	Ву:	
Name:	Name:	
lts:	lts:	
Date:	Date:	

Attest: (Pursuant to Reso: 201\_\_\_\_-

By: \_\_\_\_\_City Clerk

Approved as to form:

By: \_\_\_\_\_City Attorney

**INSERT EXHIBIT A** 

· • •

Section 1 (a)

- SCOPE OF SERVICES -

### INSERT EXHIBIT B

### Section 3 (a)

- PROFESSIONAL FEES & REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES -

#### Exhibit C - Insurance

No. -

Contractor agrees to provide insurance in accordance with the requirements set forth herein. If Contractor uses existing coverage to comply with these requirements and that coverage does not meet the requirements set forth herein, Contractor agrees to amend, supplement or endorse the existing coverage to do so. Contractor shall furnish the City with original certificates of insurance, manually autographed in ink by a person authorized by that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf. All certificates and endorsements must be received and approved by the City before any work commences. The City reserves its right to require complete, certified copies of all required insurance policies at any time. The following coverage will be provided by Contractor and maintained on behalf of the City and in accordance with the requirements set forth herein.

**Commercial General Liability (primary).** Commercial general liability insurance covering Contractor's operations (and products where applicable) is required whenever the City is at risk of third party claims which may arise out of Contractor's work or presence on City premises. Contractual liability coverage is a required inclusion in this insurance.

General liability insurance coverage shall be at least as broad as ISO form CG 00 01 10 01 and approved in advance by the City Attorney and Risk Manager. Total limits shall be no less than one million dollars (\$1,000,000) combined single limit per occurrence for general liability, bodily injury, personal injury and property damage. If commercial general liability insurance or other form with a general aggregate limit is used, either the general aggregate limit shall apply separately to this Project or the general aggregate limit shall be two million dollars (\$2,000,000). Contractor must give written notice to the City of any pending claim, action or lawsuit which has or may diminish the aggregate. If any such claim or lawsuit exists, Contractor shall be required, prior to commencing work under this Agreement, to restore the impaired aggregate or prove it has replacement insurance protection to the satisfaction of the City Attorney and Risk Manager.

City, its Council, boards and commissions, officers, employees, agents and volunteers shall be added as additional insured, and the policy shall be endorsed with a form equivalent to ISO form CG 20 10 10 93, that contains the provisions required by this contract. Coverage shall apply on a primary, non-contributing basis in relation to any other insurance or self-insurance, primary or excess, available to the City or any agent of City. Coverage is not expected to respond to the claims which may arise from the acts or omissions of the City. Coverage shall not be limited to the vicarious liability or supervisory role of any additional insured. Coverage shall contain no contractors' limitation endorsement. There shall be no endorsement or modification limiting the scope of coverage for liability arising from pollution, explosion, collapse, underground property damage or employment-related practices.

**Umbrella Liability Insurance.** Umbrella liability insurance (over primary) shall apply to bodily injury/property damage, personal injury/advertising injury, at a minimum, and shall include a "drop down" provision providing primary coverage above a maximum \$25,000.00 self-insured retention for liability not covered by primary policies but covered by the umbrella policy. Coverage shall be following form to any underlying coverage.

Coverage shall be provided on a "pay on behalf" basis, with defense costs payable in addition to policy limits. There shall be no cross liability exclusion and no contractor's limitation endorsement. Policies limits shall be not less than one million dollars (\$1,000,000) per occurrence and in the aggregate, above any limits required in the underlying policies shall have starting and ending dates concurrent with the underlying coverage.

**Business Auto.** Automobile liability insurance is required where vehicles are used in performing the work under this Agreement or where vehicles are driven off-road on City premises, it is not required for simple commuting unless City is paying mileage. However,

22 ATTACHMENT A PAGE 22 OF 25 compliance with California law requiring auto liability insurance is a contractual requirement.

If automobile insurance is required for work under this Agreement coverage shall be at least as broad as ISO form CG 00 01 10 01 including symbol 1 (Any Auto) approved by the City Attorney and Risk Manager. Coverage shall be endorsed to stated that the City, its Council, boards and commissions, officers, employees, agents and volunteers shall be added as additional insured with respect to the ownership, operation, maintenance, use, loading or unloading of any auto owned, leased, hired or borrowed by the Contractor or for which the Contractor is responsible with a form equivalent to ISO form CG 20 10 10 93. Limits shall be no less than one million dollars (\$1,000,000) combined single limit per accident for bodily injury and property damage. Starting and ending dates shall be concurrent. If Contractor owns no autos, a non-owned auto endorsement to the commercial general liability policy described above is acceptable.

**Workers' Compensation/Employers' Liability.** Workers' Compensation and Employer's Liability insurance are not required for single-person contractors. However, under California law these coverages (or a copy of the State's Consent to Self-Insure) must be provided if Contractor has any employees at any time during the period of this Agreement. Policy(s) shall be written on a policy form providing workers' compensation statutory benefits as required by law. Employers' liability limits shall be no less than one million dollars (\$1,000,000) per accident or disease and shall be scheduled under any umbrella policy described above. Unless otherwise agreed, policy(s) shall be endorsed to waive any right of subrogation as respects the City, its Council, boards and commissions, officers, employees, agents and volunteers.

**Property Insurance.** Property insurance, in a form and amount approved by the City Attorney and Risk Manager, is required for Contractors having exclusive use of premises or equipment owned or controlled by the City. City is to be named a Loss Payee "As Its Interest May Appear" in property insurance in which the City has an interest, e.g., as a lien holder. Fire damage legal liability is required for persons occupying a portion of City premises.

**Errors and Omissions/Professional Liability.** Errors and Omissions or professional liability coverage appropriate to Contractor's profession, in a form and amount approved by the City Attorney and Risk Manager, will be specified on a project-by-project basis if Contractor is working as a licensed professional. Contractor shall maintain such insurance for a period of five years following completion of the project. Such insurance shall be in an amount of not less than one million dollars (\$1,000,000) per claim and in annual aggregate. Design professionals shall maintain such insurance in place until the expiration of the warranty period of the Project.

#### Contractor and City further agree as follows:

٠.

a) This Exhibit supersedes all other sections and provisions of this Agreement to the extent that any other section or provision conflicts with or impairs the provisions of this Exhibit.

b) Nothing contained in this Exhibit is to be construed as affecting or altering the legal status of the parties to this Agreement. The insurance requirements set forth in this Exhibit are intended to be separate and distinct from any other provision in this Agreement and shall be interpreted as such.

c) All insurance coverage and limits provided pursuant to this Agreement shall apply to the full extent of the policies involved, available or applicable. Nothing contained in this Agreement or any other agreement relating to the City or its operations limits the application of such insurance coverage.

d) Requirements of specific coverage features or limits contained in this Exhibit are not intended as a limitation on coverage, limits or other requirements, or a waiver of any coverage

23

.

normally provided by any insurance. Specific reference to a given coverage feature is for purposes of clarification only and is not intended by any party to be all inclusive, or to the exclusion of other coverage, or a waiver of any type.

e) For purposes of insurance coverage only, this Agreement will be deemed to have been executed immediately upon any party hereto taking any steps that can be deemed to be in furtherance of or toward performance of this Agreement.

f) All general or auto liability insurance coverage provided pursuant to this Agreement, or any other agreements pertaining to the performance of this Agreement, shall not prohibit Contractor, Contractor's employees, or agents from waiving the right of subrogation prior to a loss. Contractor hereby waives all rights of subrogation against the City.

g) Contractor's insurance shall be written by an acceptable insurance provided, as determined by the City, which satisfies the following minimum requirements: An insurance carried authorized and admitted to do business in the State of California and maintaining an agent for service of process within the state. Such insurance carrier shall maintain a current "A.M. Best" rating classification of "A-"or better and a financial size of \$10 million to \$24 million (Class V) or better, or a Lloyds of London program provided by syndicates of Lloyds of London and other London insurance carriers, providing all participants are qualified to do business in California and the policy provides for an agent for process in the state. Self-insurance will not be considered to comply with these insurance specifications. Workers Compensation and Employer's Liability shall be provided by an A-V rated carrier or by the California State Compensation Fund. If provide by a carrier other than California State Compensation Fund, Contractor shall provide proof of the carrier's A-V rating to the City.

h) In the event any policy of insurance required under this Agreement does not comply with these requirements or is canceled and not replaced, City has the right but not the duty to obtain the insurance it deems necessary and any premium paid by City will be promptly reimbursed by Contractor.

i) Contractor agrees to provide evidence of the insurance required herein, satisfactory to City Attorney and Risk Manager, consisting of certificate(s) of insurance evidencing all of the coverages required and an additional endorsement to Contractor's general liability and umbrella liability policies. Certificate(s) are to reflect that the insurer will provide at least thirty days written notice of cancellation, material reduction in coverage or reduction in limits and ten days written notice for non-payment of premium. Contractor agrees to require its insurer to modify such certificates to delete any exculpatory wording stating that failure of the insurer to mail written notice of cancellation imposes no obligation, and to delete the word "endeavor" with regard to any notice provisions. Contractor agrees to provide complete copies of policies to City within ten days of City's request for said copies.

j) Contractor shall provide proof that policies of insurance required herein expiring during the term of this Agreement have been renewed or replaced with other policies providing at least the same coverage. Such proof will be furnished at least two weeks prior to the expiration of the coverages.

k) Any actual or alleged failure on the part of the City or any other additional insured under these requirements to obtain proof of insurance required under this Agreement in no way waives any right or remedy of City or any additional insured, in this or any other regard.

I) Contractor agrees to require all subcontractors or other parties hired for this Project to provide workers' compensation insurance as required herein and general liability insurance naming as additional insureds all parties to this Agreement. Contractor agrees to obtain certificates evidencing such coverage and make reasonable efforts to ensure that such

ATTACHMENT A PAGE 24 OF 25

24

coverage is provided as required here. Contractor agrees to require that no contract used by any subcontractor, or contracts Contractor enters into on behalf of City, will reserve the right to charge back to City the cost of insurance

1

required by this Agreement. Contractor agrees that upon request, all agreements with subcontractors or others with whom Contractor contracts with on behalf of City will be submitted to City for review. Contractor acknowledges that such contracts or agreements may require modification if the insurance requirements do not reflect the requirements herein. Failure of City to request copies of such agreements will not impose any liability on City, its Council, boards and commissions, officers, employees, agents and volunteers.

m) If Contractor is a Limited Liability Company, general liability coverage must be amended so that the Limited Liability Company and its Managers, Affiliates, employees, agents and other persons necessary or incidental to its operation are insureds.

n) Contractor agrees to provide immediate notice to City of any claim or loss against Contractor that includes City as a defendant. City assumes no obligation or liability by such notice, but has the right (but not the duty) to monitor the handling of any such claim or claims if they are likely to involve the City.

o) Coverage will not be limited to the specific location or individual entity designated as the address of the Project. Contractor agrees to have its coverage endorsed so that all coverage limits required pursuant to this requirement are available separately for each and every location at which Contractor conducts operations of any type on behalf of City. Contractor warrants that these limits will not be reduced or exhausted except for losses attributable to those specific locations and not by losses attributable to any other operations of Contractor.

p) Contractor agrees not to attempt to avoid its defense and indemnity obligations to City, its Council, boards and commissions, officers, employees, agents and volunteers by using as a defense Contractor's statutory immunity under workers' compensation or similar statutes.

r) Contractor agrees to ensure that coverage provided to meet these requirements is applicable separately to each insured and that there will be no cross liability exclusions that preclude coverage for suits between Contractor and City or between City and any other insured or Named Insured under the policy, or between City and any party associated with City or its employees.

s) Contractor shall maintain commercial general liability, and if necessary, commercial umbrella liability insurance, with a limit of not less than one million dollars (\$1,000,000) each occurrence for at least three years following substantial completion of the work.